

# E-learning for non-technical skills in surgery

A rapid literature review

28 June 2024

#### CONTRIBUTORS

Alun Cameron, ASERNIP-S, RACS

Dannii Dougherty, ASERNIP-S, RACS

John Rathbone, ASERNIP-S, RACS

#### CONTENTS

Abbreviations	2
Introduction	3
Methods	5
Results	6
Discussion	7
Conclusions	9
Appendix A: Search strategy	10
Appendix B: Summary of included studies	11
References	14

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	PICO and study selection criteria	5
Table 2	Ovid MEDLINE search results 1946 to 19 April 19 2024	10
Table 3	Ovid Embase search results 1974 to 19 April 2024	10
Table 4	Summary of included studies	11

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

ANTS	Anaesthetists' Non-Technical Skills
DVD	digital video disc
NOTECHS	Non-Technical Skills Scale
NOTSS	Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons
NTS	non-technical skills
PICO	participants, interventions, comparators, outcomes
RACS	Royal Australasian College of Surgeons
RCT	randomised controlled trial
RUFUS	rural-focused urban surgeon
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America
VR	virtual reality
WHO	World Health Organization

### **INTRODUCTION**

E-learning is an increasingly popular method for training in healthcare (including surgery), primarily due to its accessibility and flexibility. This approach encompasses an array of tools, spanning from online textbooks to cognitive simulators, enabling learning regardless of the learner's geographic location, time constraints or availability of teaching resources.<sup>1-3</sup> However, developing effective e-learning teaching resources can be resource-intensive, and it is crucial to determine whether e-learning is effective in influencing changes in clinical behaviour and improving patient outcomes.<sup>4</sup>

Two prevalent e-learning formats have been recognised: distance e-learning and computer-assisted instruction. Distance e-learning uses information technologies to deliver instruction to learners located remotely from a central site. Computer-assisted instruction (also called computer-based learning and computer-based training) uses computers to aid in the delivery of stand-alone multimedia packages for learning and teaching. These two formats are encompassed within the broader field of e-learning as the internet becomes the integrating technology.<sup>5</sup> However, the distinction between the two is important from a research perspective because most e-learning research is based on learning in situ rather than remote distance e-learning.

E-learning can be synchronous—connecting learners with instructors and other students in real-time or asynchronous—enabling learners to study at a time and place of their choosing.<sup>6</sup> Synchronous elearning through virtual lectures and other meetings is becoming more common, supported by a variety of common videoconference technologies.<sup>7 8</sup> However, asynchronous e-learning offers several advantages compared with traditional pedagogic or synchronous learning. It provides flexibility for learning that can adapt to various work patterns, and it eliminates the challenges associated with coordinating synchronous educational activities for all learners.<sup>9</sup> Rural surgical trainees and those in low-resource settings particularly benefit from internet-based asynchronous e-learning, as they may not have the same educational opportunities as their metropolitan counterparts.<sup>10 11</sup> E-learning technologies empower learners by providing control over content, the order of learning, the pace of study, and when and how they access learning materials. This flexibility enables individuals to customise their learning experiences to align with their unique educational goals.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, asynchronous internet-based elearning provides a practical solution for those who contend with the constraints of remote locations and demanding work schedules.

Although resource-intensive, e-learning has been shown to enhance accessibility to education and to provide efficacious, cost-effective, flexible and interactive learning compared to in-person training.<sup>12 13</sup> Recent years have seen a proliferation of internet and software-based platforms, with more advanced and complex user interfaces being developed.<sup>14 15</sup>

Most e-learning to date has focused on providing information and improving surgeons' technical skills (e.g. laparoscopy, knot-tying, suturing).<sup>13</sup> <sup>16</sup> More recently, non-technical skills (NTS) have gained awareness in healthcare, specifically surgery, as adverse events have been shown to originate from behavioural failures rather than a lack of technical expertise.<sup>17</sup> As many as 10% to 15% of patients admitted to hospital experience an adverse event not directly related to their underlying condition, around 50% of which are classified as avoidable.<sup>17</sup> Research into medical errors and adverse events indicates that up to 80% can be attributed to a breakdown of NTS, including poor situational awareness, poor interactions and communication with team members, inadequate monitoring, or failure to follow procedures and routines.<sup>18</sup> Within the aviation industry—another high-hazard industry—non-technical performance is recognised as being crucial to safety. There is a growing body of evidence that the same is true in surgical practice.<sup>19 20</sup> While the specific definition of NTS can vary, it generally includes social skills (communication, teamwork, leadership) and cognitive competencies (situational awareness, decision-making). Although technical skills are necessary for safe and effective surgery, surgeons also need to be skilled in NTS to ensure optimum outcomes for patients.<sup>17</sup>

The Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) recently completed a project to discover the professional skills specifically relevant to rural surgeons and individuals involved in rural outreach.<sup>21</sup> The greatest difference encompassed the non-technical skills of judgment and clinical decision-making,

specifically an understanding of the rural context, rural contextual decision-making and rural-focused urban surgical skills (RUFUS). RUFUS surgeons care for non-metropolitan patients through in-reach, outreach, telehealth and design of surgical systems, and they provide peer support to rural surgeons. Due to the time constraints of supervisors in rural practice, it has been suggested that these rural skills be taught via a curriculum provided through a voluntary e-learning module.<sup>22</sup> This rapid literature review investigates the evidence on e-learning for NTS for surgeons.

As part of this project, RACS also undertook a survey of rural surgeons and trainees to further inform the next steps of developing an e-learning curriculum for rural professional skills. The survey results are provided as a separate report.

#### **Research question**

What is the effectiveness of internet-based e-learning programs for improving the NTS of surgeons and surgical trainees?

# **METHODS**

### Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Eligible participants, interventions, comparators and outcomes (PICO), and study types are described in Table 1. As the focus is on NTS, any e-learning tool that focuses on a specific surgical procedure or technical skill was excluded.

Population	Surgeons or surgical trainees of any specialty		
Intervention	Internet-based e-learning programs defined as any asynchronous educational intervention that is mediated electronically via the internet		
Comparator         Nil or traditional face-to-face teaching methodologies			
Outcome	Primary:         Impact on surgeons' non-technical skills using objectively administered evaluation criteria         Secondary:         Impact of patient outcomes using objective outcomes measures         Surgeons' perceptions of e-learning programs using subjective and objective outcome measures		
Types of studies Systematic reviews, RCTs, observational studies			
Limits	English language		

Table 1	PICO and study selection criteria
---------	-----------------------------------

Abbreviations: RCT: Randomised controlled trial

### **Definitions**

NTS are defined in accordance with the Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons (NOTSS) framework, encompassing situational awareness, decision-making, task management, communication, and teamwork and leadership.<sup>23</sup> E-learning is defined as the use of electronic media, information and communication technologies, and various digital platforms to deliver education, training or instructional content without restriction by time or location. This may encompass various forms, including online modules, webinars, multimedia content and more.

### **Search strategy**

A literature search of Ovid MEDLINE and Embase (Appendix A Table 2, Table 3) was performed from inception to 19 April 2024. Clinical trials registers (PROSPERO and Clinicaltrials.gov) were also searched and supplementary free text searches were performed in Google. Reference lists of identified reports were searched for additional studies (pearling).

### Study selection and data extraction

Titles and abstracts were screened for relevance according to the pre-defined inclusion criteria (Table 1) by one reviewer. Full text reports of potentially relevant studies were selected for further inspection. Any uncertainty regarding study selection was resolved through discussion with a second reviewer. Reference lists of articles selected for full text inspection were screened for further studies.

A standardised data extraction template was used to extract data from the individual studies.

### **Evidence analysis**

A narrative synthesis was undertaken. Quality assessment was not planned for this rapid review.

### RESULTS

The systematic literature search identified 694 studies. Following the removal of 55 duplicates, 119 studies were investigated in full text; 6 trials (8 publications) met the PICO criteria and were included.

The included studies are summarised in Appendix A Table 4. Studies varied in design, including 1 randomised controlled trial (RCT),<sup>24</sup> 2 cohort studies providing before and after results,<sup>25-28</sup> and 3 pilot, single-arm feasibility studies providing a description of the module.<sup>29-31</sup> The searches also identified a number of systematic reviews on the topic of NTS in surgery, some of which discussed an aspect of elearning as part of a broader review of theoretical learning and technical skills. The bibliographies of these systematic reviews were searched for relevant primary studies relating to NTS.<sup>13 16 32-35</sup>

The included studies covered a range of surgical specialties, including general surgery, colorectal surgery, plastic surgery, urology and ophthalmology.

One RCT investigated the use of an instructional video with written information, compared with written information alone (non-video) on the NTS of plastic surgery residents in simulated burns patient management.<sup>24</sup> Compared to the non-video group, the video group achieved significantly higher scores in the decision-making NTS (p = 0.035) and total NOTSS score (p < 0.005), as well as improvements in technical skills.

An Australian trial provided revised Non-Technical Skills Scale (NOTECHS) scores before and after a 1-hour digital video disc (DVD) training program on teamwork in the operating theatre for cardiac, hepatobiliary, upper gastrointestinal and vascular surgical procedures.<sup>25 26</sup> The intervention improved NTS scores (p < 0.001).

One case series reported the use of presentations, including videos, provided to ophthalmology surgeons for self-directed learning.<sup>27 28</sup> When the intervention was tested using simulation-based training for the management of posterior capsule rupture there were significant improvements in all reported NOTSS outcomes.

Three pilot studies described the development and initial use of e-learning modules as part of a feasibility exercise.<sup>29-31</sup> Although it is impossible to determine the effectiveness of these tools, each intervention (where reported) was well-liked and feedback was positive in terms of its educational value. Two of the pilot studies described the development of clinical scenarios relevant to that specialty, including virtual reality (VR) modelling and interactive elements, as well as videos.<sup>29 31</sup> The scenarios were identified with expert input to create storyboards, which were tested. The third pilot study included a range of questions and matching tasks, together with images and videos, to identify safety hazards.<sup>30</sup> While no formal NTS assessment was reported for this trial, the cognitive training was considered by the authors to be an NTS.

### **DISCUSSION**

This rapid review identified a small number of publications directly reporting on e-learning modules for NTS in certain aspects of surgery. The limited evidence comprised various trial designs, including pilot studies, with relatively small patient numbers. While the application of these trial scenarios to real-world learning experiences and clinical outcomes, and the transferability to other surgical scenarios is uncertain, the studies show that NTS for surgery can be effectively taught using asynchronous e-learning techniques.

Although the studies varied in their design, certain themes were consistently reported. The target audience was identified; the planned training need was established; the material was developed with relevant scenarios that were storyboarded; the material was created on an appropriate platform; expert feedback (clinical and educational) was included and the material was aligned with relevant guidelines and built on existing resources where available; and the final material was tested and validated. Models often used interactive and engaging designs in their modules.

E-learning, including teaching and learning delivered through online systems, is not a new concept and reflects a wide mix of content and delivery that can be used either independently or blended with other learning styles.<sup>33 36</sup> The heterogeneity of platforms and interventions is vast, ranging from online communication, community discussions and journal clubs; access to electronic text, video or multimedia content; intermittent or spaced education, interactive learning and feedback; and virtual patients, VR environments, and gaming.<sup>13 32 37 38</sup>

E-learning for surgical education is most commonly used to provide examples of patient cases, to teach theoretical knowledge (cognitive learning) through online tutorials, or to teach surgical skills.<sup>13 16 33</sup> Systematic reviews report the use and outcomes of e-learning across the range of surgical specialties for students and trainees and as continuing professional development for Fellows.<sup>13 33 37 39-44</sup> Established e-learning examples include a national web portal provided by the Accreditation Council of Graduate Medical Education (ACGME) to deliver content on core competencies to general surgery residents (the Surgical Council on Resident Education, or SCORE, portal) and the Society of American Gastrointestinal Endoscopic Surgery (SAGES) course on the basic fundamentals of laparoscopic surgery.<sup>32 33 45</sup> These resources provide information and knowledge about conditions, diseases and procedures, with guideline-based content supplemented with text, videos and images.

Over recent years, virtual meetings and lectures have become more common in healthcare teaching, a phenomenon that increased substantially as a result of the COVID pandemic.<sup>7 8 39 40</sup> This digital education and e-learning (commonly videos on guidelines or surgical procedures and webinars on clinical cases) provides additional opportunities for medical students and trainees to access educational material, particularly when physical attendance at a training activity is problematic or when asynchronous access to the training resource is beneficial. Several recent systematic reviews provide examples of e-learning for surgical specialties. For surgical and anatomical training, online lectures were found to be beneficial by surgical students and their tutors, although limitations identified by the trainees included lack of personal contact with the tutor, poor networking opportunities and reduced student concentration.<sup>39</sup> Urology trainees found e-learning programs useful and interesting.<sup>40</sup> Plastic surgery trainees showed high levels of satisfaction and interest in e-learning delivery for teaching skills and knowledge.<sup>41</sup> E-learning was also shown to be associated with high satisfaction and improvements in knowledge and procedural competencies of practicing surgeons.<sup>8 37</sup> Limited evidence showed that video learning techniques are effective (as good as or superior to alternative methods) for teaching technical skills development, either as a standalone module or in combination with other standard teaching techniques.46

The importance of NTS in the operating theatre has long been recognised, with many initiatives driven by anaesthetists, such as the development of the anaesthetists' NTS (ANTS) behavioural marker system.<sup>47 48</sup> Although NTS in anaesthesia was not the focus of this review, published examples of elearning compared with didactic learning for this cohort include debriefing for simulated crisis scenarios and training in simulated resuscitation.<sup>49-51</sup> There were no reported differences between the different models of instruction. NTS in surgery has traditionally been taught using conventional teaching methods and formal curricula, including single- or multi-day courses, lectures, didactic teaching and practice sessions.<sup>52 53</sup> Training courses are generally based on existing validated NTS tools, including NOTSS and the Oxford NOTECHS II.<sup>35</sup> These courses include face-to-face curricula as well as blended courses with an online component.<sup>7 54 55</sup>

More recently, surgical curricula for NTS have included the use of simulation (high- and low-fidelity) and programs related to crisis resource management training.<sup>56</sup> In recent years, there has been an increase in the number of publications for simulation-based surgical training for technical skills and NTS.<sup>57</sup> Wet- and dry-laboratory simulation for technical skills and NTS has been reported across a range of surgical specialties.<sup>16 58-67</sup> Commercial immersive VR platforms offer another opportunity for simulated training in NTS for surgery.<sup>16 34 61 68-70</sup> Compared to box simulation training, VR simulation tools are reported as being equivalent in terms of skills score and skills completion time.<sup>16 61</sup> However, there is a large variety of VR platforms across a range of procedures; the evidence-base for each is often limited and quality data for this modality are still emerging.<sup>61 68 70</sup>

Effective NTS are particularly important for successful teamwork.<sup>71</sup> The program TeamSTEPPS is a common team training curriculum.<sup>32</sup> <sup>72</sup> Hi-fidelity team-based simulations and other team training exercises have been developed for the acute care setting and the operating theatre.<sup>73-78</sup> These tools benefit NTS development and can provide improvements on patient outcomes, but published studies are small and heterogeneous in their design and reporting.<sup>75-77</sup>

Behavioural and neurological data have shown that making errors can significantly enhance new learning.<sup>79</sup> The ability to observe the consequences of cognitive decisions and actions has a significant benefit when learning NTS via simulations. Learning from mistakes, when accompanied by constructive feedback, leads to more effective learning. For this type of error-based learning to be successful, participants must grasp where the mistake occurred, what the correct solution entails, and the underlying reasons behind it.<sup>79</sup> E-learning provides the additional benefit of creating a safe learning environment where learning through errors avoids the need for corrective learning from peers, thus circumventing any discomfort associated with peer-reviewed assessment.

# CONCLUSIONS

A limited number of studies showed that teaching NTS through asynchronous e-learning is feasible for surgical training. All studies showed improvements in some or all reported NTS outcomes, although the application of these trial scenarios to real-world learning experiences and the transferability to other surgical scenarios is uncertain. Patient-relevant outcomes were not reported. The evidence-base was impacted by small studies and by varied interventions, trial designs and outcomes reporting, so data synthesis across studies was not possible. This reflects the broader evidence-base for e-learning and alternative tools for NTS training, which includes a wide range of interventions and often limited supporting evidence of effectiveness.

While studies varied in their designs, certain themes were consistently reported. The target audience was identified; the planned training need was established; the material was developed with relevant scenarios that were storyboarded; the material was created on an appropriate platform; expert feedback was included and material aligned with relevant guidelines; and the final material was tested and validated.

E-learning as a whole, and specifically for NTS, shows promise; is well received by trainees, trainers and surgeons; and can be a valuable addition to healthcare education, particularly when the modules involve an interactive and engaging design. Increased awareness of the importance of NTS in patient safety should encourage the prioritisation of research development and implementation in this area.

# **APPENDIX A: SEARCH STRATEGY**

#### Table 2 Ovid MEDLINE search results 1946 to 19 April 19 2024

#	Query	Results
1	surgeons/	15,535
2	exp Specialties, Surgical/	223,665
3	"Internship and Residency"/	62,114
4	(surg* or intern or interns or internship or internships or residen* or registrar* or trainee or trainees).mp.	4,151,273
5	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 [surgeon or trainee]	4,237,201
6	((education or educational or educate or coach\$ or teaching or training or train or coach\$) adj15 (non-technical or nontechnical or NTS)).mp.	1,085
7	5 and 6	577

#### Table 3 Ovid Embase search results 1974 to 19 April 2024

#	Query	Results
1	surgeons/	137,617
2	exp Specialties, Surgical/	6,029,260
3	"Internship and Residency"/	241,125
4	(surg* or intern or interns or internship or internships or residen* or registrar* or trainee or trainees).mp.	
5	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 [surgeon or trainee]	
6	((education or educational or educate or coach\$ or teaching or training or train or coach\$) adj15 (non- technical or nontechnical or NTS)).mp.	
7	5 and 6	1,029
8	limit 7 to conference abstract status	347
9	7 not 8	682
10	limit 9 to "remove medline records"	117

## **APPENDIX B: SUMMARY OF INCLUDED STUDIES**

#### Table 4 Summary of included studies

Study ID	Specialty	Study design	Outcomes reported	Overall conclusion
Country	Number of participants	Description of study   Summary of intervention		
Beyer-Berjot 2015 <sup>29</sup>	Colorectal surgery	Pilot study, single-arm	Nil	Virtual patients can be used to develop technical and non-technical skills.
UK, France	No participants – proof of concept study	Scenario: enhanced recovery after surgery for colorectal surgery patients Intervention: training for enhanced recovery after surgery for online virtual patients (4 preoperative, 5 postoperative cases) Detailed scenarios were created in a specific user interface after developing the storyboard, in line with guidelines, published literature and expert advice. The module allowed a participant to observe and interact with the patient and interact with other specialties.	The storyboard cases are described.	
Gasteratos 2021 <sup>24</sup>	Plastic surgery	The module was accessed via the internet. RCT	Technical (various) and	Compared to the non-video group, the video
USA	60 final-year residents	Scenario: simulation training in burns patient management Intervention: use of an instructional video demonstration (total time 7:20 minutes) in addition to written material. Seven videos provided a scenario and were watched at home. The videos covered a range of technical and non- technical themes and were in line with guidelines. Comparator: written materials only	non-technical skills Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons (NOTSS) tool	compared to the horizotec group, the video group achieved significantly higher scores in the technical skills of assessment of breathing ( $p = 0.015$ ), disability ( $p = 0.023$ ) and exposure ( $p = 0.005$ ), and in the non-technical skills of decision-making ( $p = 0.035$ ) and total NOTSS score ( $p < 0.005$ ). There was no significant difference between groups for leadership, teamwork, situational awareness or communication skills.

Study ID	Specialty	Study design	Outcomes reported	Overall conclusion
Country	Number of participants	Description of study   Summary of intervention		
				The video was considered to be a valuable tool
				to enhance trainee competencies
Gillespie 2017,	Surgery (various	Before/after comparative study (no concurrent control)	Revised NOTECHS tool	Total NOTECHS scores improved after the
2021 <sup>25 26</sup>	specialties)			intervention (p < 0.001).
		Scenarios: cardiac, hepatobiliary, upper gastrointestinal and vascular surgical	Surgeries were observed	
Australia	179 team procedures	procedures	by a single trained	Barriers to the training program included the
	including a surgeon, nurse		observer before and after	video being too long.
	and anaesthetist	Intervention: 1-hour DVD team training program based on individuals and	the intervention	
		shared situational awareness in 2 clinical scenarios and including principles		The team training program, delivered as a DVD,
		from the Crew Resource Management training and WHO Surgical Safety		improved teams NTS.
		Checklist		
Isreb 201930	General surgery	Pilot study, single-arm	Qualitative feedback,	The overall feedback was positive.
			semi-structured	
UK	33 participants completed	Standalone online module for cognitive surgical training	interviews	Results supported the value of this online
	the module			resource in enhancing knowledge and
		Model investigated: laparoscopic cholecystectomy	No specific NTS	awareness
			assessment undertaken	
		Intervention: multiple-choice questions, extended matching items and single-		
		line free-text questions. The module contained relevant sketch images and		
		real-life hazards video clips highlighting potential mistakes to enhance safety		
		knowledge, reducing bias, and improving self-limitation awareness. Two		
		experts were invited to validate the prototype before testing.		
Pears 2023 <sup>31</sup>	Urology	Pilot study, single-arm	User feedback survey	The application was considered to be easy to
				use with positive effects on learning and
UK	32 trainees	Setting: authentic clinical scenarios (detail not provided)	System Usability Scale (SUS)	confidence in non-technical abilities.
		Intervention: development and assessment of an online teaching tool in		It is unclear if the application can be provided as
		collaboration with urology experts, medical education specialists and a human	Training Evaluation	an online module; however, the study does not
		factor researcher. Development included identification of relevant scenarios,	Inventory (TEI)	describe the need for a dedicated platform.
		storyboarding and testing.	,	

Study ID	Specialty	Study design	Outcomes reported	Overall conclusion
Country	Number of participants	Description of study   Summary of intervention		
		Two 15-minute virtual reality scenarios designed to enhance non-technical		
		skills, and included videos and interactive modules		
Wood 2023, 2024 <sup>27</sup>	Ophthalmology	Case series before/after comparative study	HUman Factors in	There was a significant increase in technical and
28			intraoperative	non-technical skills.
	17 surgeons	Model: simulation-based training for management of posterior capsule rupture	Ophthalmic	
UK		as an intraoperative complication (provided before and after the intervention)	Emergencies Scoring	Mean NOTSS scores increased from 30.1 ± 9.7
			system (HUFOES) and	pre-training to $36.8 \pm 8.8$ (p < 0.001) post-
		Intervention: 3 presentations provided remotely via Zoom, including videos.	NOTSS for non-technical	training, with significant increases across all
		The presentation material was provided to the participants for self-directed learning.	skills	NOTSS domains.
			Objective Structured	Survey feedback was that the teaching was
			Assessment of Technical	extremely, very or moderately enjoyable
			Skill (OSATS) global	(92.3%). Participants strongly or somewhat
			rating scale for technical	agreed that their non-technical skills had
			skills	improved (92.3%).
			Questionnaire feedback	

Abbreviations: DVD: digital video disc; RCT: randomised controlled trial; NOTECHS: Non-Technical Skills Scale; NOTSS: Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons; NTS: non-technical skills; UK: United Kingdom; USA: United States of America; WHO: World Health Organization

### REFERENCES

- Frenk J, Chen L, Bhutta ZA, et al. Health professionals for a new century: transforming education to strengthen health systems in an interdependent world. *Lancet* 2010;376(9756):1923-58. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(10)61854-5 [published Online First: 20101126]
- Ritz JP, Gröne J, Hopt U, et al. Practical course for visceral surgery in Warnemünde 10 years on. Significance and benefits of a surgical training course. *Chirurg* 2009;80(9):864-71. doi: 10.1007/s00104-009-1782-0
- 3. Stefanidis D, Sevdalis N, Paige J, et al. Simulation in surgery: what's needed next? *Ann Surg* 2015;261(5):846-53. doi: 10.1097/sla.0000000000826
- Ehlers U-D, Pawlowski JM. Quality in European e-learning: An introduction. In: Ehlers U-D, Pawlowski JM, eds. Handbook on Quality and Standardisation in E-Learning. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg 2006:1-13.
- 5. Ruiz JG, Mintzer MJ, Leipzig RM. The impact of E-learning in medical education. *Acad Med* 2006;81(3):207-12. doi: 10.1097/00001888-200603000-00002
- Lawn S, Zhi X, Morello A. An integrative review of e-learning in the delivery of self-management support training for health professionals. *BMC Med Educ* 2017;17(1):183. doi: 10.1186/s12909-017-1022-0 [published Online First: 20171010]
- Fonseka T, Ellis R, Salem H, et al. The effects of COVID-19 on training within urology: Lessons learned in virtual learning, human factors, non-technical skills and reflective practice. *J Clin Urol* 2021;14(1):29-35. doi: 10.1177/2051415820950109
- McHugh SM, Kheirelseid E, Hyde S, et al. Perceptions of online surgical-focused learning amongst surgeons during the COVID pandemic: A scoping review 2020-22. Surg 2024;22(2):e94-e99. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.surge.2023.11.006</u>
- 9. Chang TP, Pham PK, Sobolewski B, et al. Pediatric emergency medicine asynchronous e-learning: a multicenter randomized controlled Solomon four-group study. *Acad Emerg Med* 2014;21(8):912-9. doi: 10.1111/acem.12434 [published Online First: 20140824]
- Mahdavi Ardestani SF, Adibi S, Golshan A, et al. Factors Influencing the Effectiveness of E-Learning in Healthcare: A Fuzzy ANP Study. *Healthcare (Basel)* 2023;11(14) doi: 10.3390/healthcare11142035 [published Online First: 20230716]
- 11. O'Flynn E, Amhmed A, Biswas A, et al. E-learning Supporting Surgical Training in Low-Resource Settings. *Current Surgery Reports* 2024;12(151-159)
- 12. Handbook on Quality and Standardisation in E-learning. In: Ehlers U-D, Pawlowski, JM, ed. Berlin: Springer 2006.
- 13. Maertens H, Madani A, Landry T, et al. Systematic review of e-learning for surgical training. *Br J Surg* 2016;103(11):1428-37. doi: 10.1002/bjs.10236 [published Online First: 20160818]
- 14. Cook DA, Levinson AJ, Garside S, et al. Internet-based learning in the health professions: a metaanalysis. *Jama* 2008;300(10):1181-96. doi: 10.1001/jama.300.10.1181
- 15. Wutoh R, Boren SA, Balas EA. eLearning: a review of Internet-based continuing medical education. *J Contin Educ Health Prof* 2004;24(1):20-30. doi: 10.1002/chp.1340240105
- Lee R, Raison N, Lau WY, et al. A systematic review of simulation-based training tools for technical and non-technical skills in ophthalmology. *Eye* 2020;34(10):1737-59. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41433-020-0832-1</u>

- 17. Yule S, Paterson-Brown S. Surgeons' non-technical skills. *Surg Clin North Am* 2012;92(1):37-50. doi: 10.1016/j.suc.2011.11.004 [published Online First: 20111228]
- 18. Flin R, O'Connor, P. and Crichton, M. Safety at the Sharp End: A Guide to Non-Technical Skills. Burlington: Ashgate Publishing Company 2008.
- 19. Gawande AA, Zinner MJ, Studdert DM, et al. Analysis of errors reported by surgeons at three teaching hospitals. *Surgery* 2003;133(6):614-21. doi: 10.1067/msy.2003.169
- 20. Lingard L, Regehr G, Orser B, et al. Evaluation of a preoperative checklist and team briefing among surgeons, nurses, and anesthesiologists to reduce failures in communication. *Arch Surg* 2008;143(1):12-7; discussion 18. doi: 10.1001/archsurg.2007.21
- 21. RACS. Investigation and development of a rural-facing surgical curriculum framework 2022 [Available from: https://www.surgeons.org/-/media/Project/RACS/surgeonsorg/ESSPWP/STP-Report-Final-Version.pdf?rev=e0601d756f834594ba63276b7eaacade&hash=F0A456EB3CD4D17DA37AE CE45BDE09B82024.
- 22. RACS. Evaluation of the Rural-Facing Curriculum Framework, 2022.
- 23. Yule S, Flin R, Paterson-Brown S, et al. Development of a rating system for surgeons' nontechnical skills. *Med Educ* 2006;40(11):1098-104. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2929.2006.02610.x
- 24. Gasteratos K, Paladino JR, Murray WB, et al. Video-Assisted Simulation Training in Burn Management: A Comparative Cohort Study on the Assessment of Technical and Nontechnical Competencies. *Injury* 2021;52(8):2154-59. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.injury.2021.03.032</u>
- 25. Gillespie BM, Harbeck E, Kang E, et al. Effects of a Brief Team Training Program on Surgical Teams' Nontechnical Skills: An Interrupted Time-Series Study. J Patient Saf 2021;17(5):e448e54. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/PTS.00000000000361</u>
- 26. Gillespie BM, Steel C, Kang E, et al. Evaluation of a Brief Team Training Intervention in Surgery: A Mixed-Methods Study. Aorn J 2017;106(6):513-22. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aorn.2017.09.013</u>
- Wood TC, Maqsood S, Saunders A, et al. Non-technical skills simulation-based training model for managing intraoperative posterior capsule rupture during cataract surgery. *Eye* 2023;37(3):474-79. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41433-022-01962-2</u>
- 28. Wood TC, Maqsood S, Saunders A, et al. Simulation-based training for intraoperative posterior capsule rupture management: an analysis of nontechnical skills development and the relationship between technical and nontechnical skills. *Eye* 2024;04:04. doi: <a href="https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41433-024-03051-y">https://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41433-024-03051-y</a>
- 29. Beyer-Berjot L, Patel V, Ziprin P, et al. Enhanced recovery simulation in colorectal surgery: design of virtual online patients. *Surgical Endoscopy* 2015;29(8):2270-7. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00464-014-3941-8</u>
- Isreb S, Attwood S, Hesselgreaves H, et al. The Development of an Online Standalone Cognitive Hazard Training for Laparoscopic Cholecystectomy: A Feasibility Study. J Surg Educ 2020;77(1):1-8. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2019.09.002</u>
- 31. Pears M, Rochester M, Wadhwa K, et al. A Pilot Study Evaluating a Virtual Reality-Based Nontechnical Skills Training Application for Urology Trainees: Usability, Acceptability, and Impact. J Surg Educ 2023;80(12):1836-42. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2023.08.012</u>
- 32. Dietl CA, Russell JC. Effects of Technological Advances in Surgical Education on Quantitative Outcomes From Residency Programs. J Surg Educ 2016;73(5):819-30. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2016.03.016</u>

- 33. Jayakumar N, Brunckhorst O, Dasgupta P, et al. E-Learning in Surgical Education: A Systematic Review. *J Surg Educ* 2015;72(6):1145-57. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2015.05.008</u>
- 34. Piromchai P, Avery A, Laopaiboon M, et al. Virtual reality training for improving the skills needed for performing surgery of the ear, nose or throat. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2015(9):CD010198. doi: doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010198.pub2
- 35. Wood TC, Raison N, Haldar S, et al. Training Tools for Nontechnical Skills for Surgeons A Systematic Review. J Surg Educ 2017;74(4):548-78. doi: doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2016.11.017
- 36. Larvin M. E-learning in surgical education and training. *ANZ J Surg* 2009;79(3):133-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-2197.2008.04828.x
- 37. Williams E, Fernandes RD, Choi K, et al. Learning Outcomes and Educational Effectiveness of E-Learning as a Continuing Professional Development Intervention for Practicing Surgeons and Proceduralists: A Systematic Review. J Surg Educ 2023;80(8):1139-49. doi: https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2023.05.017
- 38. Graafland M, Schraagen JM, Schijven MP. Systematic review of serious games for medical education and surgical skills training. *Br J Surg* 2012;99(10):1322-30. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/bjs.8819</u>
- 39. Co M, Cheung KYC, Cheung WS, et al. Distance education for anatomy and surgical training A systematic review. Surg 2022;20(5):e195-e205. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.surge.2021.08.001</u>
- 40. Calcagnile T, Sighinolfi MC, Sarchi L, et al. COVID-19 and slowdown of residents' activity: Feedback from a novel e-learning event and overview of the literature. *Urologia* 2021;88(4):332-36. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1177/03915603211001253</u>
- 41. Lin IC, Lee A, Mauch JT. Does E-learning Improve Plastic Surgery Education?: A Systematic Review of Asynchronous Resources. *Ann Plast Surg* 2021;87(1s Suppl 1):S40-S51. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/SAP.00000000002806</u>
- 42. Stienen MN, Schaller K, Cock H, et al. E-Learning resources to supplement postgraduate neurosurgery training. Acta Neurochir (Wien) 2017;159(2):325-37. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00701-016-3042-7</u>
- 43. Tarpada SP, Hsueh WD, Gibber MJ. Resident and student education in otolaryngology: A 10-year update on e-learning. *Laryngoscope* 2017;127(7):E219-E24. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1002/lary.26320</u>
- 44. Tarpada SP, Morris MT, Burton DA. E-learning in orthopedic surgery training: A systematic review. *J* 2016;13(4):425-30. doi: <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jor.2016.09.004</u>
- 45. Peters JH, Fried GM, Swanstrom LL, et al. Development and validation of a comprehensive program of education and assessment of the basic fundamentals of laparoscopic surgery. *Surgery* 2004;135(1):21-7. doi: 10.1016/s0039-6060(03)00156-9
- 46. Ahmet A, Gamze K, Rustem M, et al. Is Video-Based Education an Effective Method in Surgical Education? A Systematic Review. J Surg Educ 2018;75(5):1150-58. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2018.01.014</u>
- 47. Fletcher GC, McGeorge P, Flin RH, et al. The role of non-technical skills in anaesthesia: a review of current literature. *Br J Anaesth* 2002;88(3):418-29. doi: 10.1093/bja/88.3.418
- Kang J, Hu J, Yan C, et al. Development and applications of the anaesthetists' non-technical skills behavioural marker system: protocol for a systematic review. *BMJ Open* 2022;12(12):e065519. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2022-065519 [published Online First: 20221214]

- Boet S, Bould MD, Bruppacher HR, et al. Looking in the mirror: self-debriefing versus instructor debriefing for simulated crises. *Crit Care Med* 2011;39(6):1377-81. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0b013e31820eb8be
- 50. Hards A, Davies S, Salman A, et al. Management of simulated maternal cardiac arrest by residents: didactic teaching versus electronic learning. *Can J Anaesth* 2012;59(9):852-60. doi: 10.1007/s12630-012-9752-2 [published Online First: 20120710]
- 51. Welke TM, LeBlanc VR, Savoldelli GL, et al. Personalized oral debriefing versus standardized multimedia instruction after patient crisis simulation. *Anesth Analg* 2009;109(1):183-9. doi: 10.1213/ane.0b013e3181a324ab
- 52. Dedy NJ, Bonrath EM, Zevin B, et al. Teaching nontechnical skills in surgical residency: a systematic review of current approaches and outcomes. *Surgery* 2013;154(5):1000-8. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2013.04.034</u>
- 53. Hull L, Arora S, Symons NR, et al. Training faculty in nontechnical skill assessment: national guidelines on program requirements. *Annals of Surgery* 2013;258(2):370-5. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e318279560b</u>
- 54. RACS. Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons 2024 [Available from: <u>https://www.surgeons.org/Education/Professional-Development/Non-Technical-Skills-for-</u> <u>Surgeons</u> accessed 2 May 2024.
- 55. Royal College of Surgeons Edinburgh. Non-Technical Skills for Surgeons (NOTSS) 2024 [Available from: <u>https://www.rcsed.ac.uk/professional-support-development-</u> resources/learning-resources/non-technical-skills-for-surgeons-notss accessed 2 May 2024.
- 56. Ounounou E, Aydin A, Brunckhorst O, et al. Nontechnical Skills in Surgery: A Systematic Review of Current Training Modalities. J Surg Educ 2019;76(1):14-24. doi: doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2018.05.017
- 57. Rosendal AA, Sloth SB, Rolfing JD, et al. Technical, Non-Technical, or Both? A Scoping Review of Skills in Simulation-Based Surgical Training. *J Surg Educ* 2023;80(5):731-49. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2023.02.011</u>
- 58. Bannon R, Stewart KE, Bannister M. Non-technical skills and otolaryngology: systematic review. *Journal of Laryngology & Otology* 2020;134(5):415-18. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0022215120000900</u>
- 59. Bannon R, Stewart KE, Bannister M. Non-technical skills in oral and maxillofacial and head and neck surgery: systematic review. *British Journal of Oral & Maxillofacial Surgery* 2021;59(10):1109-12. doi: doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bjoms.2020.08.052
- 60. Brunckhorst O, Aydin A, Abboudi H, et al. Simulation-based ureteroscopy training: a systematic review. *J Surg Educ* 2015;72(1):135-43. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2014.07.003</u>
- 61. Feenstra TM, van der Storm SL, Barsom EZ, et al. Which, how, and what? Using digital tools to train surgical skills; a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Surgery Open Science* 2023;16:100-10. doi: doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sopen.2023.10.002
- 62. Griffin C, Aydin A, Brunckhorst O, et al. Non-technical skills: a review of training and evaluation in urology. *World J Urol* 2020;38(7):1653-61. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00345-019-02920-6</u>
- 63. Patel EA, Aydin A, Cearns M, et al. A Systematic Review of Simulation-Based Training in Neurosurgery, Part 1: Cranial Neurosurgery. *World Neurosurgery* 2020;133:e850-e73. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2019.08.262</u>
- 64. Patel EA, Aydin A, Cearns M, et al. A Systematic Review of Simulation-Based Training in Neurosurgery, Part 2: Spinal and Pediatric Surgery, Neurointerventional Radiology, and Nontechnical Skills. *World Neurosurgery* 2020;133:e874-e92. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2019.08.263</u>

- 65. Preece R. The current role of simulation in urological training. *Central European Journal of Urology* 2015;68(2):207-11. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.5173/ceju.2015.522</u>
- 66. Rashid P, Gianduzzo TR. Urology technical and non-technical skills development: the emerging role of simulation. *BJU International* 2016;117:9-16. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/bju.13259</u>
- 67. Sadideen H, Goutos I, Kneebone R. Burns education: The emerging role of simulation for training healthcare professionals. *Burns* 2017;43(1):34-40. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.burns.2016.07.012</u>
- 68. Edwards TC, Soussi D, Gupta S, et al. Collaborative Team Training in Virtual Reality is Superior to Individual Learning For Performing Complex Open Surgery: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann Surg* 2023;278(6):850-57. doi: 10.1097/sla.00000000000006079 [published Online First: 20230828]
- 69. Pfandler M, Lazarovici M, Stefan P, et al. Virtual reality-based simulators for spine surgery: a systematic review. *Spine Journal: Official Journal of the North American Spine Society* 2017;17(9):1352-63. doi: https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2017.05.016
- 70. Yi WS, Rouhi AD, Duffy CC, et al. A Systematic Review of Immersive Virtual Reality for Nontechnical Skills Training in Surgery. J Surg Educ 2024;81(1):25-36. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jsurg.2023.11.012</u>
- 71. Whittaker G, Abboudi H, Khan MS, et al. Teamwork Assessment Tools in Modern Surgical Practice: A Systematic Review. *Surgery Research & Practice Print* 2015;2015:494827. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2015/494827</u>
- 72. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Pocket Guide: TeamSTEPPS 2024 [Available from: <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/teamstepps/instructor/essentials/pocketguide.html</u> accessed 2 May 2024.
- 73. Armenia S, Thangamathesvaran L, Caine AD, et al. The Role of High-Fidelity Team-Based Simulation in Acute Care Settings: A Systematic Review. *The Surgery Journal* 2018;4(3):e136-e51. doi: https://dx.doi.org/10.1055/s-0038-1667315
- 74. Ayas S, Armstrong BA, Wong S, et al. Mitigating operating room distractions: A systematic review assessing intervention effectiveness. *Human Factors in Healthcare* 2022;2 doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.hfh.2022.100013</u>
- 75. Leuschner S, Leuschner M, Kropf S, et al. Non-technical skills training in the operating theatre: A meta-analysis of patient outcomes. *Surg* 2019;17(4):233-43. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.surge.2018.07.001</u>
- 76. Robertson JM, Dias RD, Yule S, et al. Operating Room Team Training with Simulation: A Systematic Review. Journal of Laparoendoscopic & Advanced Surgical Techniques Part A 2017;27(5):475-80. doi: doi:https://dx.doi.org/10.1089/lap.2017.0043
- 77. Sun R, Marshall DC, Sykes MC, et al. The impact of improving teamwork on patient outcomes in surgery: A systematic review. *International Journal Of Surgery* 2018;53:171-77. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2018.03.044</u>
- 78. Tan SB, Pena G, Altree M, et al. Multidisciplinary team simulation for the operating theatre: a review of the literature. ANZ Journal of Surgery 2014;84(7):515-22. doi: doi:<u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ans.12478</u>
- 79. Metcalfe J. Learning from Errors. *Annu Rev Psychol* 2017;68:465-89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010416-044022 [published Online First: 20160914]